SANTA CLARITA VALLEY SCHOOL FOOD SERVICES AGENCY

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT WITH

CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION AND ITS SANTA CLARITA JPA CHAPTER #782

JULY 1, 2014 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2017

REVISED: SEPTEMBER 29, 2015

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I	RECOGNITION	. 3
ARTICLE II	AGENCY RIGHTS	.3
ARTICLE III	EMPLOYEE ORGANIZATION RIGHTS	.3
ARTICLE IV	DEFINITIONS	. 4
ARTICLE V	WORK HOURS	. 5
ARTICLE VI	SALARY	. 6
ARTICLE VII	EMPLOYEE BENEFITS	.8
ARTICLE VIII	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	10
ARTICLE IX	TRANSFER AND REASSIGNMENT	12
ARTICLE X	LEAVES	13
ARTICLE XI	EVALUATION PROCEDURE	18
ARTICLE XII	PERSONNEL FILES	19
ARTICLE XIII	DISCIPLINE	19
ARTICLE XIV	PROFESSIONAL GROWTH	23
ARTICLE XV	CLASSIFICATION	24
ARTICLE XVI	LAYOFF AND REEMPLOYMENT PROCEDURES	24
ARTICLE XVII	SAFETY	25
ARTICLE XVIII	YEAR ROUND EDUCATION	26
ARTICLE XIX	SAVINGS	26
ARTICLE XX	NEGOTIATIONS	26
ARTICLE XXI	NO CONCERTED ACTIVITIES/LOCK-OUT	26
ARTICLE XXII	TERM	27
ARTICLE XXIII	AGENCY PERSONNEL POLICIES	27

PREAMBLE

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT ("CBA") is made and entered into this 29th day of September, 2015, by and between the Santa Clarita Valley School Food Services Agency ("Agency") and the California School Employees Association and its Santa Clarita JPA Chapter #782 ("CSEA").

The purpose of this CBA is to set forth-negotiated terms and conditions in the employment of bargaining unit members of the Agency as provided in Government Code sections 3500 - 3510.

ARTICLE I RECOGNITION

The Agency hereby recognizes the Association as the employee organization for the classified bargaining unit, which is comprised of the classifications, listed in Appendix A of this CBA.

Specifically excluded from the unit shall be all management positions, the Chief Executive Officer, directors, and any other management team positions as they may be modified from time to time, and any support positions which deal with negotiations or grievances with the bargaining unit.

ARTICLE II AGENCY RIGHTS

It is understood and agreed that the Agency retains all of its powers and authority to direct, manage and control to the full extent of the law. Included in but not limited to those powers are the exclusive right to: determine its organization; direct the work of its employees; determine the times and hours of operations; determine the kinds and levels of services to be provided, and the methods and means of providing them; establish its educational policies, goals and objectives; ensure the rights and educational opportunities of students; determine staffing patterns; determine the number and kinds of personnel required; maintain the efficiency of Agency operations; build, move or modify facilities; establish budget procedures and determine budgetary allocation; determine the methods of raising revenue; and take action on any matter in the event of an emergency, which shall be defined as a sudden, urgent, or unforeseen occasion or occasion requiring immediate action. In addition, the Agency retains the right to hire, transfer, classify, assign, evaluate, promote, demote, terminate and discipline employees, and all other rights and privileges not expressly waived by this agreement or requirements of law.

The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the Agency, the adoption of policies, rules regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith, shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of this CBA, and then only to the extent such specific and express terms are in conformance with law.

The Agency retains its right to amend, modify or rescind policies and practices referred to in this CBA in cases of emergency. The determination of whether or not an emergency exists is solely within the discretion of the Agency and is expressly excluded from the provisions of Article VIII, "Grievance Procedure."

The Agency retains the right to subcontract services to be rendered and functions to be performed, including educational, support, construction, maintenance, or repair services, except that the Agency shall not contract out services which have been customarily, routinely, or exclusively performed by classified employees.

ARTICLE III EMPLOYEE ORGANIZATION RIGHTS

Section 3.1 Employee Organization Rights.

- 3.1.1 The employee organization shall have the right of access to areas in which unit members work during times when the unit member is not actually required to perform services to the Agency for the purpose of representing unit members. Such access shall not disrupt the work of the Agency, or the unit member's co-workers.
- 3.1.2 The employee organization shall have the right to use without charge a bulletin board at each site, and to use unit member mailboxes and e-mails in accordance with the limitations imposed by the Education Code.
- 3.1.3 CSEA may request the use of agency facilities during normal operating hours for member meetings with the advance written approval of the Chief Executive Officer, so long as the facility is not in use by the Agency at the time, and provided the use by the employee organization will not disrupt efficient operations of the Agency. The facility shall be left in the same condition as before use.
- 3.1.4 Upon reasonable notice to the Agency, the employee organization shall have the right to review the personnel file of a unit member or other personnel records related to the unit member upon presentation of written authorization signed by the unit member.
- 3.1.5 The Agency shall annually supply the employee organization with a seniority roster by November 30 listing unit members by classification, job assignment, and hours in paid status in the classification.
- 3.1.6 The Chapter president and designee(s) may submit a written request at least two weeks in advance of the absence for release time to attend the annual CSEA conference. The Chapter president/and designee(s) may elect to use vacation time for the absence.
- 3.1.7 An employee may submit a written request at least 30 days in advance of the absence for release time to attend the California School Nutrition Association Conference. The employee may elect to use vacation time for the absence.
- 3.1.7.1 The number of employees shall be determined by the Agency and Association on a yearly basis, and shall be on a first-come, first-serve basis.

Section 3.2 <u>Distribution of CBA.</u>

Within thirty (30) days after ratification of this CBA by all parties, the Agency shall provide without charge two copies of this document to each work site. In addition, the Agency shall post a print copy at the Agency office, and shall post an electronic copy on its website.

Section 3.3 Dues Deductions.

3.3.1 <u>Dues Deductions.</u> The Agency shall deduct dues from wages of unit members who have submitted dues authorization forms to the Agency as provided by Government Code sections 1157.1 and 1157.3, for dues of public employee organizations.

ARTICLE IV <u>DEFINITIONS</u>

- Section 4.1 Day: A day upon which the administrative offices of the Agency are open for business.
- Section 4.2 <u>Permanent Employee:</u> A unit member who has satisfactorily completed the initial one (1) year probationary period.
- Section 4.3 Probationary Employee: A unit member who has not yet completed the initial one (1) year

probationary employment period.

- 4.3.1 Promotional Probationary Employee: A unit member who has achieved permanency in the classified service, but has not yet completed the six (6) month promotional probationary period in a classification to which he/she has been promoted.
- Section 4.4 <u>Seniority:</u> Seniority shall be determined on the basis of length of service, defined as the hire date in the classification, until the final date of paid service in the classification.
- Section 4.5 <u>Voluntary Demotion:</u> A demotion agreed to in writing by the unit member.

ARTICLE V WORK HOURS

Section 5.1 Work Week

- 5.1.1 Unless otherwise provided at the time of initial employment, the regular work week for full-time unit members shall normally be forty (40) hours rendered in units of eight (8) hours.
- 5.1.2 The Agency may, for periods of less than twenty consecutive work days, temporarily extend regular work hours or the work week and adjust the regular work shift when necessary to carry out the Agency's business.

Section 5.2 Work Day

The regular work schedule for each unit member will be established by the Agency in order to meet the Agency's goals and objectives, and in order to function in an organized and efficient manner. The regular work schedule may be modified by the Agency from time to time upon provision of at least five (5) working days written notice to the unit member. The Agency shall, in modifying work schedules, give consideration to the family and educational commitments of the unit member.

Permanent increases or decreases in work hours must be ratified by action of the Board of Directors. The employee shall be provided with a least five (5) days written notice of such increases or decreases in work hours.

Permanent decreases in work hours must be negotiated with CSEA, and ratified by action of the Board of Directors and the Chapter membership.

Section 5.3 Overtime

- 5.3.1 Overtime compensation shall be provided to unit members who are directed by their immediate supervisor to work in excess of eight (8) hours in any one day, or in excess of forty (40) hours in one calendar week. The unit member shall be compensated equal to one and one-half times their regular rate of pay.
- 5.3.2 Unit members directed and authorized by the immediate supervisor and who provide service to the Agency for five (5) consecutive work days averaging four (4) hours or more per day shall be compensated, if assigned a sixth (6th) or seventh (7th) consecutive work day following the commencement of the work week, at the rate of one and one-half times the regular rate of pay.
- 5.3.3 Unit members directed and authorized by their immediate supervisor who served five (5) consecutive work days averaging fewer than four (4) hours per day shall be compensated

on the seventh (7th) day at one and one-half times the unit member's regular rate of pay.

Section 5.4 Lunch and Rest Breaks.

5.5.1 – Unit members assigned six (6) hours or more per day shall receive a 1/2 hour unpaid lunch break as scheduled by the site supervisor according to the needs of the work site.

5.5.2 – Unit members shall be granted rest periods which shall be taken at or near the midpoint of each work period at the rate of fifteen (15) minutes per four (4) hours or major fraction thereof.

Section 5.5 Summer Employment

Unit members shall be entitled to apply for temporary summer positions. The Agency shall notify unit members that it is accepting applications for summer employment, and of the application deadline. Summer employment shall be rotated among qualified employees by seniority, commencing with the most senior applicants. After an applicant has worked or turned down an offer of summer employment, he or she shall not be eligible for summer employment the following year until less senior applicants have had an opportunity to serve in a summer position; however, if positions remain after less senior applicants have been granted summer employment, a more senior applicant may serve in two consecutive years.

Section 5.6 <u>Permanent Increase in Hours.</u>

If the Agency, in one increment, determines to increase the daily work hours of a regular position in a single action by one hour or more, the position will be reopened to all applicants. If the incumbent is not selected for the modified position; he or she shall be subject to layoff for lack of work, and may exercise all applicable bumping rights within the Agency.

ARTICLE VI

SALARY and COMPENSATION

- Section 6.1 "The Agency's salary schedule shall be increased by 1.0%, effective July 1, 2013." In addition, there shall be a one-time off-schedule bonus in the amount of 1.0% (not compounded). These payments shall only apply to those who are in paid status as of February 3, 2014.
- Section 6.2 Commencing July 1, 2000, unit members shall be paid twice monthly.
- Section 6.3 Commencing as soon as reasonably possible in the 2000-2001 school year, the Agency will amend its contract with the Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) so as to afford eligible unit members a 2% PERS retirement benefit upon retirement at age 55, provided all other service and eligibility requirements are met. PERS includes a lump sum death benefit.

In accordance with the passage of Assembly Bill (AB) 340, the Agency will amend its CalPERS contract for new members. New employees hired on or after January 1, 2013 who meet the definition of new member as per the Public Employees' Pension Reform Act (PEPRA) shall receive the modified new benefit formula of 2% at Age 62. the Final Compensation period shall be modified to a 3 Year Final Compensation Period, provided that all other service and eligibility requirements are met. (See Pension Reform section of the CalPERS website)

Section 6.4 All employees assigned less than four hours per day (those employees not in PERS) will be paid once monthly. Regular employees who work four hours a day or more will be paid twice monthly.

Section 6.5 Holiday Compensation.

A unit member required to work on a scheduled holiday for his/her work site shall be paid compensation at the rate of time and one half of his/her regular rate of pay in addition to the regular pay received for the holiday.

Section 6.6 Additional Compensation.

6.6.1 Callback Pay.

The unit member called back to work, either after normal working hours or on a day not worked, shall receive pay for a period of not less than two hours, irrespective of the actual time less than that required to be worked. Entitlement to overtime pay shall be determined pursuant to Section 5.3 of this Agreement.

6.6.2 Travel Time Between Sites.

Site Team Leaders required by the Agency to travel to another site for meetings after reporting to their regular work site shall be compensated for an additional 15 minutes if the location of the meeting is five (5) or less miles from their regular site, or for an additional 30 minutes if the location of the meeting is more than five (5) miles from their regular site. Mileage for travel to these meetings shall be compensated at the IRS rate in effect at the end of the pay period.

6.6.3 Inclement Weather Days.

Whenever a site served by the Agency is closed because of inclement weather or emergency situations, unit members who are scheduled to work that day, but because site is closed are unable to do so, shall be paid for the first day of the closure at full pay of their normal work assignment for that day. The Agency shall make reasonable attempts to provide affected employees temporary work locations until the site reopens.

6.6.4 Inconsistent Duty Pay.

Unit members who are required and directed by their immediate supervisor to perform higher level duties in a higher job classification inconsistent with their assigned duties for five days or more within a 15-day period shall be compensated, beginning on the fifth day, at a rate not less than 5% above the unit member's regular rate of pay.

6.6.5 Additional Hours.

- (a) Unit members directed to work beyond their regular work hours but less than eight hours per day or 40 hours per week shall be paid for such additional hours at their regular rate of pay, except as provided herein. Unit members may be authorized by the Site Team Leader to work up to an additional 15 minutes per day for two days without advance approval of Agency management in circumstances of Agency need. Additional days require approval of Agency management.
- (b) When the Agency anticipates a temporary need for additional work hours of thirty minutes or more per day for a particular position for an extended length of time of more than twenty consecutive work days, it shall add the additional hours to the employee's regular assignment. In no case shall such temporary addition result in establishing an overtime assignment.

Any employee who works a minimum of thirty (30) minutes per day in excess of part-time assignment for a period of twenty (20) consecutive work days or more, shall have the basic assignment modified to reflect the longer hours as specified in section 45136 of the Education Code, and shall receive a health benefit allocation, proportionate to his or her newly assigned hours.

Temporary hours are not part of the employee's regular assignment, and therefore, discontinuance of the temporary assignment shall not be the subject of reduction in force requirements of the Education Code.

6.6.6 Promotional Compensation.

A unit member permanently assigned by the Agency to a position compensated at a higher salary range than his/her present range shall be deemed to have been promoted, and shall be placed at a step that corresponds to his preparation, education, and experience for the new position at the appropriate salary range for the position classification to which the unit member has been promoted.

6.6.7 Demotion Compensation.

A unit member permanently assigned by the Agency to a position within the unit compensated at a lower salary range than the previously assigned salary range shall be deemed to have been demoted and shall be placed on the same step in the lower salary range for the position classification assigned. Such unit member shall retain his/her anniversary step placement.

6.6.8 Longevity Increment.

After completion of thirteen (13) years of satisfactory service, the longevity increment shall be 5% based on the employee's current salary step. After completion of twenty (20) years of satisfactory service, the longevity increment shall be 10.5% based on the employee's current salary step. After completion of twenty-five (25) years of satisfactory service, the longevity increment shall be 16.5% based on the employee's current salary step.

6.6.9 Compensation for Required In-service Training.

A unit member directed by the Agency to attend a required service in-service session, as a condition of his/her employment shall be compensated at his/her regular rate, in accordance with the provisions of this CBA.

ARTICLE VII EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Agency shall provide insurance benefits as specified in the master contract(s) between the Agency and the insurance carriers, which the Agency selects. The summary of benefit levels is provided by the insurance carriers based upon the items and conditions of the master insurance policy contract(s), which will be, distributed to all unit members.

Section 7.1 Eligibility

7.1.1 Full-Time Unit Members. A full-time unit member electing to receive health and welfare benefits shall begin eligibility for coverage upon the completion of three months of actual service to the Agency, except that unit members employed after March 31 of any school year shall become eligible for coverage on October 1 of the subsequent school year after 3 months of actual service. Upon becoming eligible, a full-time unit member shall have the Agency contribution paid in full up to an maximum annual of \$11,722.30 (increased from

\$11,389.30) for members electing family coverage, \$9,741.70 (increased from \$ 9,408.70) for members electing two-party coverage, both effective January 1, 2014. The maximum annual Agency contribution for employee only coverage shall be \$6,896.40 (increased from \$6,563.40). The parties agree that this "cap" on the maximum annual agency contribution shall continue in effect through September 30, 2014, and beyond until such time as the parties agree through the negotiations process to increase the "cap".

In the event that the total premium(s) exceeds the Agency contribution for a unit member electing the health and welfare coverage, a unit member desiring coverage shall, as a condition of receipt of the benefits, complete a payroll deduction form for the difference between the Agency contribution and the total premium cost.

Eligible full-time unit members who provide written verification of other health insurance coverage may waive Agency-provided health benefits. An eligible full-time unit member may also waive dental and/or vision benefits. Employees who waive any of these benefits may have any unused balance of the maximum Agency annual contribution of \$4,100 deposited into an approved tax sheltered annuity (403b). This \$4,100 cap shall remain in place through the duration of this agreement.

7.1.2 Part-time Unit Members.

- 7.1.2.1 Part-time (4 hours/day and more) unit members shall have the Agency contribution prorated in the same proportion that their service bears to a full-time, 40 hour per week assignment. Such unit members desiring health and welfare coverage shall, as condition of receipt of the benefits, complete a payroll deduction form for the difference between the Agency contribution and the total premium cost.
- 7.1.2.2 Part-time (4 hours/day and more) unit members electing the in lieu option instead of any health and welfare benefits shall have the maximum annual in lieu contribution of \$4,100 prorated according to the percentage of a full-time assignment worked as set forth above. Part-time unit members shall pay the difference in cost of premium between the Agency contribution and the total cost of the coverage as a condition of receipt of the benefits selected.
- 7.1.2.3 The Agency will provide a 457(b) plan for part-time employees whose hours are under four. The Agency and CSEA will negotiate concerning the ongoing implementation of the 457(b) retirement contributions for part-time employees under four (4) hours.

7.1.3 Part-time Unit Members Working Less Than Four Hours Per Day.

- 7.1.3.1 Part-time unit members hired on or after October 1, 2007 assigned to work less than four hours per day will not qualify for any Agency contribution toward agency-sponsored health benefits or in lieu of contributions.
- 7.1.3.2 Part-time Agency unit members working less than four hours per day who were hired prior to October 1, 2007 will continue to enjoy the same prorated level of health benefits or in lieu of contributions provided in Sections 7.1.2 for part-time unit members working at least four hours per day.

Section 7.2 Insurance Benefits During Leave of Absence.

- 7.2.1 The Agency shall continue to contribute a unit member's premium contribution, while on paid leave status, for an approved purpose, in the same manner as if the unit member had remained in regular service.
- 7.2.2 Eligible unit members on Agency-approved, non-paid leaves of absence may elect to continue coverage for themselves by mailing the entire premium payment required to coverage, made payable to the Santa Clarita Valley School Food Services Agency on or before the first of each month and submitted to the Agency office.
- Section 7.3 Health Benefits Committee. The Agency agrees to convene a joint health benefits committee for the purposes of reviewing all facets of the health benefits programs provided for employees of the Agency. The goal of this committee is finding high quality benefits while containing benefit cost increases. This committee shall commence meeting in November 2008 and meet regularly (as needed). The committee shall be comprised of three (3) members selected by the Agency and three (3) members selected by CSEA.
- Section 7.4 Improved Vision Benefit. It is agreed that commencing with the 2008-09 benefits year, the Agency will provide a 12/12/12 benefit plan through the Vision Service Plan (VSP).
- Section 7.5 The Agency will reimburse employees for the cost of tuberculosis skin tests required for continuing employment, not to exceed twenty-five dollars (\$25.00.)

ARTICLE VIII GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Section 8.1 Definitions

- 8.1.1 A "grievance" shall mean a claim by a member of the unit or by the employee organization that there has been a violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of an express provision of this CBA, which has an adverse impact upon an identified unit member (e.g., by classification, site, date, etc.).
- 8.1.2 A "grievant" shall mean an agency employee or the employee organization filing a grievance.
- 8.1.3 A "conferee" shall mean any representative, selected by either party respectively, to assist in presenting and processing the grievance.
- 8.1.4 "Immediate Supervisor" shall be the first-level administrator having immediate jurisdiction over the impacted unit member.
- 8.1.5 "Day" shall mean any day on which the central administrative offices of the Agency are open for business.

Section 8.2 General Provisions.

- 8.2.1 The purpose of this procedure is to secure equitable solutions to grievances. These proceedings shall be kept confidential.
- 8.2.2 The filing of a grievance shall in no way interfere with the right of the Agency to proceed in

carrying out its management responsibilities subject to the final decision on the grievance. In the event the grievance involves an order, requirement, or other directive, the grievant shall fulfill or carry out such order, requirement, or other directive, pending the final decision on the grievance.

- 8.2.3 The act of filing of a grievance shall not reflect negatively upon the grievant, nor shall the grievant be reprised for filing a grievance.
- 8.2.4 Nothing contained herein shall be construed as limiting the right of any grievant to discuss a grievance informally with his or her immediate supervisor, or to have the grievance adjusted without intervention by the employee organization, provided that the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of this CBA.
- 8.2.5 Multiple grievance claims shall be processed in a sequential manner. Grievances shall be assigned consecutive numbers.
- 8.2.6 Any resolution achieved by the parties prior to the conclusion of Level IV shall be consistent with the terms of this CBA.

Section 8.3 <u>Informal Procedure</u>

LEVEL I: These proceedings will be kept as informal as possible. The grievant and immediate supervisor should attempt to resolve grievances at the informal level. The grievant shall meet with the immediate supervisor within ten (10) days of the occurrence, act or omission giving rise to the grievance. If the potential grievance is not resolved at this level, the grievant may proceed to Level II.

Section 8.4 Formal Procedure

LEVEL II: Within five (5) days of the informal conference, if the potential grievance is not resolved, the grievance must be presented in writing on an Agency grievance form to the immediate supervisor. The written grievance shall contain a clear and concise statement of the grievance, the circumstances involved, the decision rendered at the informal conference, and reasons for the appeal, and the specific remedy sought.

The immediate supervisor shall provide a decision to the grievant in writing within ten (10) days after receiving the grievance. If the immediate supervisor does not respond within the time limit, the grievant may appeal to the next level. Within the above time limits, either party may request a conference to discuss the grievance. The grievant and the immediate supervisor may have conferees present at such a conference.

LEVEL III: In the event the grievant is not satisfied with the decision at Level II, the grievant may appeal the decision to the Chief Executive Officer/designee, within ten (10) days. This written appeal shall include a copy of the original grievance, the decisions rendered at previous levels, and a clear, concise statement of the reasons for the appeal. The Chief Executive Officer/designee shall communicate a written decision within ten (10) days after receiving the appeal.

LEVEL IV: In the event the grievant is not satisfied with the decision at Level III, the grievant may appeal the decision to the Board of Directors within ten (10) days. This written appeal shall include a copy of the original grievance, the decisions rendered at previous levels, and a clear, concise statement of the reasons for the appeal. Either party may request a meeting within 2 days of the commencement of Level III. The Board, in its discretion, may determine the grievance itself, or may appoint a hearing officer to decide the case. When necessary to schedule grievance hearings during regular work hours, the Agency shall release employees requested to testify by a party. The grievant shall provide no less than one (1) full working day's notice to the Agency of the individuals who will need release time to testify.

The Board of Directors has the power to render a final decision, which shall be binding on all parties. If, upon review, the Board determines that it is unable to render a final determination on the record, it may reopen the record for the taking of additional evidence, prior to rendering the final decision.

ARTICLE IX TRANSFER AND REASSIGNMENT

Section 9.1 Definition.

A transfer is defined as a permanent change within a class from one position to another at a different site. A reassignment is defined as a permanent change within a class to another position at the same site.

Section 9.2 Employee-Initiated Transfer or Reassignment Requests.

A transfer or reassignment is considered a privilege. An employee who has a satisfactory evaluation and filed a written request for transfer or reassignment through the Agency shall be given the opportunity to interview. Written transfer or reassignment requests will be kept on file for one year, and shall state the site, days, and hours for which the unit member wishes to be considered for transfer or reassignment.

All vacant positions will be posted for five (5) working days.

9.2.1 Criteria for Transfer or Reassignment.

The following criteria shall be used in considering transfer or reassignment requests:

- A. The needs and efficient operation of the Agency.
- B. The contribution the employee can make in the new location.
- C. The qualifications, including the experience and recent training of the employee compared to those of other candidates.
- D. The length and quality of service rendered to the Agency by the employee.
- E. The preference of the employee.
- 9.2.2 An employee's request for transfer or reassignment shall be made on an appropriate form, and shall bear the signature of the employee's immediate supervisor. Such signature is acknowledgment only that the immediate supervisor has been informed of the employee's desire for a transfer or reassignment and does not imply approval or disapproval by the immediate supervisor.
- 9.2.3 The filing of a request for transfer or reassignment is without prejudice to the employee and shall not jeopardize the employee's present assignment. A request for transfer or reassignment may be withdrawn by the employee in writing at any time before Agency notification of transfer or reassignment approval.
- 9.2.4 The Agency shall provide the employee official notification of the disposition of the transfer or reassignment request. Upon written request, the employee shall be provided the reason for the Agency's decision on his/her transfer or reassignment request.

Section 9.3 Agency-Initiated Transfers or Reassignments

A transfer or reassignment may be made by the Agency at any time for any of the following reasons:

- A. A change in enrollment or workload necessitating transfer or reassignment of classified staff.
- B. Improved efficiency of the Agency.
- C. Reassignment or transfer of member of immediate family, including registered domestic partners. Members of the immediate family, including registered domestic partners, who are employed by the Agency, may be assigned to the same school or work location at the discretion of the Agency.
- D. An opportunity to evaluate an employee in a different school and location.
- E. Temporary medical transfers or reassignments. The Agency may give limited, alternative work, within the written restrictions allowed by the unit member's doctor, when the employee has become medically unable to satisfactorily perform his/her regular duties. Such alternative work shall be at the discretion, and based upon the needs of the Agency and the physical limitations of the employee. If the alternative work performed is within a classification at a higher range than the employee's normal duties, the employee shall receive out of class pay according to the provisions of this agreement.

An employee may request a conference or written statement regarding the reasons for the involuntary transfer or reassignment.

Except in cases of emergency, the Agency shall make a good faith effort to give an employee who is to be involuntarily transferred or reassigned five (5) days' notice of the transfer or reassignment. This requirement shall not apply to the temporary reassignment of employees for the purposes of providing coverage for other staff.

ARTICLE X LEAVES

Section 10.1 General Provisions.

A leave of absence is an authorization of the unit member's absence from duty for a specific period of time and an approved purpose. Unit members returning from paid or unpaid leave must hold all licenses or certificates held at the time the leave began. Unit members on paid leave of absence, unless otherwise provided herein, shall receive wages, fringe benefits, and retirement credit as though they were not on leave. Unit members who go on an unpaid leave during any pay period shall receive fringe benefits for the balance of that pay period. Thereafter, they shall be allowed to remain on continued coverage pursuant to the terms of the insurance plan selected at their own expense, provided they make advance payment of the premium in a manner reasonably required by the Agency. Exception: If an employee is provided group health insurance and has been approved for FMLA leave, the employee shall have the Agency portion of their fringe benefit contribution paid for up to 12 weeks on the same terms as if he or she had continued to work. Procedures in this Article for notification of absence are mandatory. Failure to follow absence notification procedures may result in forfeiture of salary for the day(s) of absence.

On the day the unit member returns to active service, he/she shall complete an employee absence report, and shall submit it to the immediate supervisor.

Unit members shall notify the Agency of their anticipated absence as soon as the need for the leave of absence is known, but in no event less than one hour before the unit member's normal reporting time.

An employee who has sustained a permanent disability as a result of an accident or injury shall, prior to requesting to return to work from leave, provide a complete doctor's evaluation of the employee's present ability to do the tasks outlined in the employee's job description or in a description of the actual day-to-day tasks of the position which has been prepared by the Agency. The Agency shall, in accordance with applicable law, make reasonable accommodation of such disability, and may, where necessary, suspend applicable portions of the Collective Bargaining Agreement in order to meet its obligations of reasonable accommodation. The Association shall be notified in writing prior to suspending any provision of the Agreement for the purpose of accommodating an employee with a disability. The Association has 10 days in which to request a conference/meeting with the Agency to discuss proposed suspension of any portion of the Collective Bargaining Agreement. Any accommodation shall not establish an employment custom or practice. Accordingly, modifications of this Agreement made expressly for that purpose shall not be subject to the grievance procedure."

The term "immediate family", as used in this Article, includes the registered domestic partner of an Agency employee.

Section 10.2 Bereavement Leave.

An Agency employee shall be granted up to three (3) days of paid leave for bereavement purposes upon the death of a member of the employee's immediate family or household (defined at section 10.5A). Two additional days of paid bereavement leave will be given to the unit member when there is a need to travel 250 miles or more on account of the death of any member of the unit member's immediate family. Additional days of absence may be provided under the terms of the personal necessity leave provisions. Bereavement Leave must be taken within 30 days of the death of the member of the employee's immediate family.

Section 10.3 Industrial Accident Illness Leave.

An Agency employee who has sustained an illness or injury within the course and scope of assigned duties shall be granted up to sixty (60) days compensated leave in any one fiscal year for the same illness or accident. This leave shall not be accumulated from year-to-year.

Leave shall commence on the first day the employee is absent from service due to an industrial accident or illness. The sixty (60) day leave allowance shall be reduced by one (1) day for each day of authorized absence regardless of whether a temporary disability indemnity award has been provided the employee. If a leave overlaps into the next fiscal year, the employee shall not be entitled to a new sixty (60) days, but shall be entitled to only the amount of unused leave due for the same illness or injury.

Industrial accident or illness leave is to be used in lieu of sick leave benefits under Section 10.6. When entitlement to industrial accident or illness leave has been exhausted, entitlement to sick leave under Section 10.6 may then be used. If an employee is receiving workers' compensation, he/she may use only so much of his/her accumulated sick leave under Section 10.6 and vacation leave or comp time which, when added to the workers' compensation award, provides a full day's pay.

An employee receiving these benefits shall, during the period of illness or injury, remain within the State of California unless the Board of Directors authorizes travel outside the State.

An employee returning to duty following an industrial illness or accident shall provide the Agency with a physician's written verification of the beginning and ending dates of the period of the disability, description of the exact nature of the disability, which certifies the employee's fitness to return to duty without restrictions.

Section 10.4 <u>Judicial and Official Appearance Leave.</u>

An Agency employee shall be granted paid leave for purposes of regularly called jury duty,

appearance under subpoena as a witness in court other than as a litigant, or to respond to an official order from another governmental jurisdiction for the reasons not brought about through the connivance or misconduct of the employee. When called for jury duty, the unit member shall notify the immediate supervisor at once, and shall make an affirmative attempt to schedule jury duty to minimize the disruption to the Agency's operation. The Agency may request the employee to seek deferral or limitation of jury duty when, in the opinion of the Chief Executive Officer, such duty would substantially interfere with the effective operation of the Agency.

The Agency will work with employees called for jury duty to adjust the employee's work schedule so that the combined jury service and work hours shall not exceed eight (8) hours per day. Employees not required to serve a full day of jury service shall complete the remainder of their regular work shift for the day, provided that the combined work hours and jury service do not exceed eight (8) hours.

Section 10.5 Personal Necessity Leave.

Unit members shall be entitled to use up to seven (7) days of paid sick leave in each school year in cases of personal necessity defined below. Unit members may use one (1) of the seven (7) annual days on a confidential basis for a reason set forth in paragraphs A through F below. The unit member shall be required to certify that he/she used the confidential day for a reason specified in subsections A-F, but shall not be required to state, with respect to the confidential day, which of the subsections applies. Personal necessity leave may be utilized by an employee who has sufficient sick leave credit for circumstances which are serious in nature which cannot be expected to be disregarded, and which necessitate immediate attention, and cannot be dealt with during off-duty hours. The employee shall submit a request for personal necessity leave approval on an Agency form to the immediate supervisor not less than five (5) working days prior to the beginning date of the leave. The prior approval requirement shall not apply to leave for purposes set forth in paragraphs A, B, and D.

However, when prior approval is not required, the employee shall make every reasonable effort to comply with Agency procedures designed to secure substitutes, and shall notify the immediate supervisor of the expected duration of the absence. The Agency reserves the right to review each request and to verify such request by any appropriate means.

- A. For purposes of this subsection only, **death** of a member of the immediate family, including registered domestic partners is defined as mother, father, step-parents, husband, wife, son, daughter, step-children, brother, sister, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandmother, grandfather, grandson, granddaughter, aunt, uncle, niece, or nephew of the unit member.
- B. **An accident** involving the person or property of the unit member or of a member of the member's immediate family, including registered domestic partners, as defined above. The accident must be of such an emergency nature that the immediate presence of the unit member is required during the regular workday.
- C. **Appearance in court** as a litigant, or as a witness under order of subpoena.
- D. **Serious or critical illness** of a member of the unit member's immediate family, including registered domestic partners, as defined above, which calls for services of a physician and is verified by the physician's statement. The illness must be of such an emergency nature that the immediate presence of the employee is required during his/her regular work day.
- E. **Financial**. A condition or circumstance which, if unattended, would result in an unconscionable financial loss materially affecting the unit member's ability to maintain reasonable conditions of sustenance for the member and dependents.

F. **Religious holiday** or observance of the member's faith which cannot be conducted outside of regular working hours.

Use of sick leave days for personal necessity reasons shall not be approved for purposes of personal convenience, participation in work stoppage or slowdown, or sick-out, or the extension of a holiday, weekend, or vacation period, recreational activities, employee organization activities, or other activities which can be taken care of outside of work hours. The unit member shall verify in writing on the Agency form which of the above reasons the leave was utilized for.

Section 10.6 Sick Leave.

A 12-month Agency employee working five (5) days per week shall be annually entitled to twelve (12) compensated days leave of absence for physical and mental disabilities which are medically necessary and caused by illness, injury or quarantine and which renders the employee unable to perform his regular duties. An employee working less than full-time shall be entitled to sick leave in the same ratio that the employment bears to full-time employment. Sick leave shall be made available on an accrual basis. If an employee does not take the full amount of leave allowed in any year under this Section, the amount not taken shall be accumulated from year to year.

With the exception of authorized personal necessity use, sick leave shall be used only for physical or mental disability, which makes it impracticable for the employee to perform his/her regular duties, due to the disability.

The Agency may require a unit member to provide his/her physician's written verification of his/her ability to return to work without restrictions, and of the nature and duration of the illness or disability following an absence of three or more working days. Verification may also be required from a physician selected by the Agency, at Agency expense.

In addition, verification of illness or disability by a physician may be required when: (1) the Agency reasonably believes that a unit member is abusing sick leave privileges or (2) when the Agency reasonably believes that a unit member may be medically unfit to continue to work. In either case, verification shall be in writing, and shall state the employee's ability to return to work without restrictions, and the nature and duration of the illness or disability. If such verification is required from the physician selected by the Agency, it shall be at Agency expense.

Pregnancy-related disabilities shall be treated as any other physical disability. Pregnancy disability leave shall not be utilized in lieu of personal leave for child-rearing.

Section 10.7 Extended Illness Leave

When an Agency employee is absent from duty on account of illness or accident for a period of five months or less, whether or not the absence arises out of employment, the amount deducted for the salary due for any month in which the absence occurs shall not exceed the sum actually paid a substitute employee to fill the position during the absence and shall run concurrently with any available paid leave, commencing on the first day of absence. Payment under this section shall commence at the exhaustion of all other available paid leave. If, at the conclusion of all leaves of absence, the employee is unable to assume the duties of the position, the employee will be placed upon a reemployment list of that classification for 39 months.

Section 10.8 Vacation Leave.

A 12-month Agency employee serving in a full-time status of five (5) days and forty (40) hours a week who is in paid status for more than one-half of the working days each month, shall be credited with one

day of vacation credit for each month of service.

An employee serving in a part-time status shall be credited with vacation leave in the same ratio that the part-time employment bears to full-time employment. Vacation leave shall be made available on an accrual basis.

An employee serving in a full-time status of five (5) days and forty (40) hours per week for a full work year shall be credited with 1.25 days of vacation credit per month, at the conclusion of five (5) full contracted years of service.

An employee serving the Agency in a full-time status of five (5) days and forty (40) hours per week for a full work year shall be credited with 1.50 days of vacation credit per month, at the conclusion of ten (10) full contracted years of service.

An employee serving the Agency in a full-time status of five (5) days and forty (40) hours per week for a full work year shall be credited with 1.75 days of vacation credit per month, at the conclusion of fifteen (15) full contracted years of service.

An employee serving the Agency in a part-time status shall be credited with longevity vacation credit in the same ratio that the employment status bears to full-time employment status.

Vacation scheduling shall be required as far in advance as possible, but not less than ten (10) days in advance. Vacation scheduling must receive advance written approval of the immediate supervisor. Vacation will normally be scheduled during student break periods, unless otherwise approved by the immediate supervisor. Any remaining days of vacation shall be scheduled during the school year with the consent of the immediate supervisor, taking into account the schedule and needs of the food services program. Vacation shall be used in the year in which it is accrued. Any exceptions must be approved by the Chief Executive Officer or designee, and may not exceed a total of five (5) days of carryover. All unused vacation time not carried to the following year shall be paid out to the employee.

Probationary employees shall also take vacation during student recess periods; however, if employment is terminated during probation, if any unearned vacation pay has been paid, that amount shall be deducted from the final check.

Section 10.9 Holidays.

Agency employees shall be entitled to holidays designated in the Education Code or designated by the Board of Directors which fall within the individual employee's scheduled work year. Normally, employees assigned to a school site will be scheduled to observe holidays consistent with the holiday schedule of the district to which that site belongs.

The parties recognize that due to the necessity of serving several school districts which may have different holiday schedules, Agency employees, including central kitchen employees, required to work on a scheduled holiday due to operational necessity shall, in lieu of such holiday, receive a floating holiday which they may schedule with their supervisor's approval, on a date of their choice within the same school year.

Section 10.10 Military Leave

Unit members shall be entitled to military leave as provided by the Education Code and the Military and Veterans Code. Unit members receiving military orders shall provide a copy of the orders to the immediate supervisor upon receipt. Unit members shall attempt to schedule military training periods so as to minimize interference with the member's regular Agency work schedule.

Section 10.11 Child-Rearing Leave.

A unit member shall be entitled to an unpaid leave of absence for purposes of child rearing upon the birth or adoption of a child up to a maximum period of three months. A unit member shall provide the Agency with four weeks advance written notice prior to the anticipated date upon which the leave is to commence.

Section 10.12 <u>Unpaid Personal Leave.</u>

A unit member may request unpaid personal leave for reasons other than those enumerated in this Article. Such requests shall be made in writing, shall be addressed to the Chief Executive Officer, and shall specify the requested duration and purpose of the leave. Granting of such requests is in the discretion of the Chief Executive Officer, or designee.

Section 10.13 Earned and Unused Sick Leave

In accordance with state law an employee may utilize up to one-half of his or her annual allotment of earned and unused sick leave to attend to the illness of a child, parent, spouse or registered domestic partner, provided that verification of such illness is provided which is satisfactory to the Agency. Such leave shall apply only to annual earned and unused sick leave occurring under Section 10.6 of this CBA, and not to extended illness leave available for the employee only under Section 10.7.

ARTICLE XI <u>EVALUATION PROCEDURE</u>

Section 11.1 General Provisions.

Performance evaluations shall be made upon the Agency evaluation form. Evaluations shall be based upon observations or knowledge confirmed by the evaluator.

- 11.1.1 The evaluation forms shall be completed and signed by the employee's immediate supervisor prior to an evaluation conference between the employee and the immediate supervisor. The evaluation form shall contain information bearing on employee performance related to the evaluation criteria established by the Agency.
- 11.1.2 The evaluation shall contain an appraisal of the employee's performance and, as appropriate, commendations or specific suggestions for the improvement of the employee's performance.
- 11.1.3 The employee shall receive a written copy of the evaluation form described herein at a private conference conducted by the evaluator. The employee may attach a written response to the evaluation. The employee's signature indicates only receipt of a copy.
- 11.1.4 For categories rated lower than satisfactory, the evaluator shall provide suggestions for improving the deficient performance area.
- 11.1.5 No grievance arising under this Article may challenge the objectives, standards, or criteria determined by the evaluator or the Agency, nor shall it contest the judgment of the evaluation. Any grievance shall be limited solely to a claim that a procedure of this Article has not been followed.

Section 11.2 <u>Probationary Employee Evaluations.</u>

Probationary employees shall normally receive at least three (3) written evaluations on Agencyapproved forms during the one-year probationary period. The Agency shall make reasonable efforts to provide these evaluations by the end of the second, fifth, and eleventh months of service. A permanent classified employee who is promoted to another position shall retain permanency in the classified service, but shall serve a six (6) month probationary period in the new position. Evaluations shall follow the second and fourth months of service.

Section 11.3 <u>Permanent Employee Evaluations.</u>

Permanent classified employees shall normally receive at least one evaluation on Agency-approved forms every other year. Normally, these ratings shall be completed two weeks prior to the end of each year's service. A permanent employee may be evaluated by the immediate supervisor at any other time, with prior notice to the employee, if exemplary or unsatisfactory service is performed.

ARTICLE XII PERSONNEL FILES

Official personnel files shall be maintained in the Agency's central office.

Materials in personnel files of unit members that may serve as a basis for affecting the status of employment are to be made available for inspection of a unit member. Material available for inspection shall not include ratings, reports, or records obtained prior to the employment of the unit member, records which were prepared by identifiable examination committee members, or records obtained in connection with a promotional examination, except that unit members shall have access to numerical scores obtained as a result of a written examination.

Unit members shall have the right to inspect the personnel file, provided that the request is made at a time when the unit member is not actually required to render services.

Information of a derogatory nature, except for material excluded from examination above, will not be placed in the file until the employee is given notice and an opportunity to review and comment thereon. The unit member has the right to enter, and have attached to any derogatory statement, the unit member's comments. Review of derogatory information shall be during normal business hours, and the unit member will be released from duty for this purpose without salary reduction. No disciplinary action of suspension, disciplinary demotion, or dismissal shall be based on written material, which has not been placed in the official personnel file.

ARTICLE XIII <u>DISCIPLINE</u>

Section 13.1 Purpose.

The purpose of this Article is to define discipline procedures, causes, and actions pertaining to the discipline of permanent unit members which the Agency has the right to implement according to this Article, Agency policy, and the Education Code. Discipline shall be imposed upon unit employees only pursuant to this Article. No disciplinary action shall be taken for any cause which occurs prior to the employee becoming permanent, nor for any cause which occurs more than two years preceding the date of the filing of the notice unless such cause was concealed or not disclosed by the employee when it could reasonably be assumed that the employee should have disclosed the facts to the Agency.

Section 13.2 Informal Corrective Measures.

The parties acknowledge that informal corrective measures such as verbal warnings, evaluations, conferences, written notices or reprimands, letters to personnel files, and the like, shall not constitute disciplinary action which is subject to this Article.

Section 13.3 Definitions.

Discipline: Discipline is suspension with or without pay, demotion (other than voluntary demotion, reduction in hours of employment, or assignment to a lower class pursuant to sections 45101(g) and 45298 of the California Education Code) and discharge.

Suspension: Suspension is the temporary removal of an employee from the employee's position with or without loss of pay as a disciplinary measure. Under the circumstances described in section 11.1.4, an employee may also be suspended preliminary to investigation pending issuance of charges for dismissal. Such suspension will be with pay until charges are served to the employee by certified mail or personal service.

Section 13.4 Discipline of Permanent Classified Employees.

13.4.1 Right to Immediately Suspend.

Emergency situations involving the health and welfare of students and employees can occur. If a unit member's presence on Agency facilities creates or has the potential of creating a danger or threat to the Agency's property or to the safety or health of students or employees, including the employee at issue, the Agency may immediately suspend with pay the unit member pending an investigation of the situation. After investigation, the unit member's conduct in creating an emergency situation may be used as the basis, in whole or in part, for disciplinary action as provided in this Article. In such case, the employee shall be served with a statement of disciplinary charges within ten (10) working days of such suspension.

13.4.2 <u>Disciplinary Action For Cause</u>.

A permanent classified employee may be subject to disciplinary action for any of the following causes, for which the Agency shall have the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence:

- 13.4.2.1 Unauthorized absence, repeated absence and/or tardiness without authority or sufficient reason.
- 13.4.2.2 Abandonment of position, including failure to return to duty upon expiration of any authorized leave of absence, or failure to report to duty for three (3) or more consecutive working days without prior notification and authorization of such absence.
- 13.4.2.3 Conviction or plea of no contest to a felony, a drug offense, a sex offense, or any criminal act of moral turpitude.
- 13.4.2.4 Incompetence or inefficiency in the performance of the duties of the position held.
- 13.4.2.5 Insubordination.
- 13.4.2.6 Use of intoxicants or controlled substances during assigned work hours, or reported for work while under the influence of an intoxicant or controlled substance.
- 13.4.2.7 Negligent or willful damage to Agency property or waste of Agency supplies or equipment; unauthorized use of Agency property for private purposes.
- 13.4.2.8 Falsifying any information submitted to the Agency or submitting misleading information to the Agency including, but not limited to, information supplied on an employment application.

- 13.4.2.9 Willful violation of any policy, contract obligation, rule or regulation of the Agency, state or federal government.
- 13.4.2.10 Work-related dishonesty.
- 13.4.2.11 Engaging in unauthorized political activity during assigned hours of employment or otherwise in violation of applicable regulation or policies of the Board of Directors.
- 13.4.2.12 Abuse of leave privileges, including excessive tardiness, excessive absences, or a pattern of absences for trivial indispositions, or misuse of sick leave.
- 13.4.2.13 Violation of or refusal to obey safety rules and regulations made applicable to public school by the Board or the laws and regulations of the state or federal government.
- 13.4.2.14 Discourteous, offensive, inappropriate, or abusive conduct or language towards other employees, students or the public.
- 13.4.2.15 Advocacy of overthrow of federal, state or local government by force, violence, or other unlawful means.
- 13.4.2.16 Unauthorized release of confidential information, as defined by law, from official Agency records.
- 13.4.2.17 Unauthorized signing in or out for other employees.
- 13.4.2.18 Possession of unauthorized, dangerous, and/or deadly weapons on Agency property.
- 13.4.2.19 Inability to perform assigned duties due to the failure to meet job qualifications (including, but not limited to, failure to possess required licenses, failure to pass required tests or failure to meet standard risk insurability requirements).
- 13.4.2.20 Failure to dress appropriately as required by job assignment.
- 13.4.2.21 Failure to report for review of criminal records or for health or x-ray examination after due notice.
- 13.4.2.22 Sexual, racial, religious harassment, or harassment on any other basis that is protected by law of a fellow employee, a student, or member of the public, in conjunction with Agency employment.

13.4.3 Notice to Employee.

Upon preparation of the charges, the Agency shall give notification of its intention to take disciplinary action. Such notice shall be presented to employee personally or sent by certified mail and shall include the following:

13.4.3.1 The specific charge(s) against the employee, including the facts supporting the charge(s), acts, or omissions and the specific cause(s) for discipline as described above. Suspensions of three (3) days or less shall be subject to the procedure set forth at 13.4.4, Informal Pre-Disciplinary Hearing. In such cases, decisions made at

that level are final and ratified by the Board, and the employee shall not be entitled to the formal hearing procedure set forth in sections 13.4.5 - 13.4.6.

13.4.3.2 A statement informing the employee of the employee's right to request a hearing.

Notification to employee that any written request for hearing must be received by the Chief Executive Officer within five (5) no later than the close of the working day, which shall not be less than five (5) working days after service of notice.

- 13.4.3.3 The notice shall be accompanied by a "Demand for Hearing" which the employee may sign, date, and file with the Agency. The timely filing of a properly signed and dated Demand for Hearing with the Agency shall constitute a denial of all charges.
- 13.4.3.4 A copy of this disciplinary procedure.

13.4.4 Informal Pre-Disciplinary Hearing.

If the employee requests a hearing, a pre-disciplinary hearing shall be before the Chief Executive Officer or designee. The hearing shall be convened at the time mutually agreed to by the Agency and the employee, the time of which shall not be less than five (5) and not more than twenty (20) days after the date of service of the notice of disciplinary action, unless the parties mutually agree to an extension of time. The employee may elect to be represented or may elect to represent himself/herself. The hearing shall be informal.

The employee shall have the opportunity to present any relevant evidence in the form of a narrative presentation or documents relative to the disciplinary action of which the employee received notice. The Chief Executive Officer or designee shall, within five (5) days from the date of the hearing, decide whether the disciplinary action of which the employee received notice shall be imposed and, if not, whether lesser disciplinary action shall be imposed. The Board of Directors may accept, reject, or modify the Chief Executive Officer's decision in cases of suspension of three (3) days or less. The Chief Executive Officer's decision shall not take effect until it is ratified by the Board.

All hearings shall be held in closed session unless the employee submits a written request for a public hearing at least three (3) working days prior to the hearing date.

- 13.4.5 <u>Formal Hearing Procedure Dismissal, Demotion or Suspensions Greater Than Three</u> Days.
 - 13.4.5.1The employee requesting a formal hearing shall be given written notice of the time, date, and place of hearing. This notice shall be served on employee by certified mail or personal service.
 - 13.4.5.2 The hearing shall normally be conducted within twenty (20) working days after receipt of the request unless both parties agree upon an extension of time.
 - 13.4.5.3 The employee has a right to appear in person on his/her own behalf, with counsel or other representative.
 - 13.4.5.4 A record of the hearing shall be made.
 - 13.4.5.5 The hearing will be conducted before an impartial designee of the Board, by both the Agency and CSEA. The designee shall submit a recommended decision to the Board within ten (10) working days after the hearing.
 - 13.4.5.6 The Board or Board's designee will consider all relevant evidence, including

testimony by witnesses for the employee and for the Agency. Both parties will have the opportunity to confront and question all witnesses who testify, question all evidence presented, and to place in the record any allegations of bias on the part of the trier of fact.

- 13.4.5.7 If the Board determines that there is insufficient cause for dismissal or demotion, the Board shall make whatever it deems necessary to reduce the discipline or to restore any compensation or lost benefits resulting from imposition of the disciplinary action.
- 13.4.5.8 The decision of the Board shall be final.

13.4.6 Decision Following Formal Hearing.

The decision rendered by the trier of fact shall be based on the evidence presented. The decision shall be in writing, and will set forth findings of fact and conclusions as to whether the grounds for discipline have been sustained.

13.4.7 Failure to Request a Hearing.

If the employee fails to make a timely request for hearing, the discipline shall be imposed upon the expiration of the period for requesting a hearing.

ARTICLE XIV PROFESSIONAL GROWTH

Employees who voluntarily obtain School Nutrition Association (SNA) training and complete an SNA Certificate in School Nutrition shall receive a five percent salary stipend for the length of the certification period. SNA training and certification is voluntary, is completed at the employee's expense, and, except where offered by the Agency, is completed without compensation for attendance outside the employee's regular work hours. Employees who desire to continue receiving the five percent salary stipend must keep their SNA certification current and provide verification of the required Continuing Education Units (CEU's) satisfactory to the Agency.

Section 14.1 Definitions and Examination of CEU's

A 5% salary stipend will be earned by an employee who completes and maintains current requirements for the SNA Certificate Program. All fees and costs are the responsibility of the employee.

CEU's must, in the opinion of the Agency, relate to the employee's general area of employment, or be CEU's earned to advance the employee's educational plan goals.

- 14.1.1 <u>Deadlines for Salary Changes for Professional Growth.</u> Salary changes for professional growth shall be recorded with official transcripts in the Agency office and shall be effective the month following submission of all documents, for that school year.
- 14.1.2 <u>Repeat Courses.</u> Repeat courses may be taken for acceptable credit only if approved in advance by the CEO or designee.
- 14.1.3 <u>Responsibility for Recording Units</u>. It is the sole responsibility of the unit member to record units or hours earned in order to receive credit on the salary schedule.
- 14.1.4 A current, valid license in one of the building trades, or similar industry certification, pre-

approved by the CEO or designee, may be considered in lieu of SNA Certification. Continuing credits to maintain annual license or certification must be completed to maintain stipend. All fees and costs are the responsibility of the employee.

14.1 RESPONSIBILITY OF INDIVIDUAL CLASSIFIED EMPLOYEES

In order to qualify for any professional growth increment, it shall be the responsibility of the individual classified employee to:

- 14.3.1 Submit all documentation to the CEO or designee in advance of the course or other activity for approval for salary credit.
- 14.3.2 Submit official transcripts of completed coursework to the Agency office for verification satisfactory to the Agency with required transcripts or grades.
- 14.3.3 If additional unexpected opportunities arise for classes/workshops, submit to the CEO or designee a request for review by the professional growth committee for prior approval.
- 14.3.4 Verify whether the CEO or designee has approved the training prior to commencing the training.
- 14.4 The Agency office will maintain a professional growth record for each participating employee.
- The Agency shall reimburse employees for successful completion (passing score or better) on the Safety and Sanitation course based on the examination score percentage, (i.e. 90% score of \$130.00 equivalent reimbursement of \$117.00).

ARTICLE XV CLASSIFICATION

The Board of Directors shall classify all positions in the classified service. The classification of new positions not requiring certification qualifications shall be negotiated with the Association. A specific statement of duties shall be established by the Board of Directors for each new position following an opportunity to negotiations on placement on the appropriate salary range. Each position shall have a designated title, regular minimum number of assigned hours per day, days per week, and months per year.

The Board of Directors may upgrade a position to a higher classification as a result of the gradual increase of the duties being performed by the incumbent in such position after reasonable notice and an opportunity to negotiations with the exclusive representative.

ARTICLE XVI LAYOFF AND REEMPLOYMENT PROCEDURES

- Section 16.1 Reason For Layoff. Layoff shall occur for lack of work or lack of funds, as provided by the Education Code.
- Section 16.2 Notice of Layoff. Affected unit members shall be given sixty (60) days written notice prior to the effective date of layoff. The notice shall advise the affected unit member of displacement rights, if any, and of reemployment rights.
- Section 16.3 Order of Layoff. The order of layoff within the class shall be determined by the length of service. The unit member who has been employed the shortest time in the class plus higher classes shall be laid off first. Reemployment shall be in the reverse order of layoff. Length of service shall be defined as hours in paid status, but does not include any hours

compensated solely on an overtime basis as described in Education Code section 45128. Hours in paid status shall not include any service performed prior to entering into probationary or permanent status in the classified service of the District.

Section 16.4 Voluntary Demotion or Reduction in Assigned Time in Lieu of Layoff. Unit members who accept voluntary demotions or voluntary reductions in assigned time in lieu of layoff or in order to remain in their present positions rather than be reclassified or reassigned, shall be granted the same rights as persons laid off, and shall retain eligibility to be considered for reemployment for an additional period up to 24 months provided that the same test of fitness under which they qualified for appointment to the class still apply. Unit members accepting voluntary demotions or voluntary reductions in assigned time in lieu of layoff shall be, at the option of the unit member, returned to a position in their former class or to positions with increased assigned time as vacancies become available and without limitation of time, but if there is a valid reemployment list, they shall be ranked on that list in accordance with their proper seniority. Unit members shall notify the Chief Executive Officer within three (3) working days of service of the notice of layoff of any election to accept a voluntary demotion or reduction in assigned time in lieu of layoff. Failure to return such notification in the time prescribed shall result in layoff.

Section 16.5 Order of Reemployment. Reemployment shall be in the reverse order of layoff. Any permanent classified unit member who voluntarily resigns from his/her permanent classified position may be reinstated or reemployed by the governing board within 39 months after his/her last day of paid service to a position in his/her former classification. If the Board so elects, it shall disregard the break in service and classify him/her as and restore the rights, benefits and burdens of permanent unit member in the class.

The unit member shall be placed on the reemployment list, and contacted for the purpose of offering reemployment during the prescribed period in order of seniority.

Unit members on the reemployment list shall be offered available vacancies in writing in the order of seniority. Unit members who fail to indicate acceptance in writing within five (5) working days of service of the notice shall be deemed to have refused the position. The Agency shall prescribe the effective date for the reemployment.

ARTICLE XVII SAFETY

The Agency will establish a system for identifying and evaluating workplace hazards, including periodic inspections for unsafe working conditions and unsafe work practices.

The Agency shall provide occupational health and safety training for unit members, and will correct unsafe and/or unhealthy work practices in a timely manner, prioritized on the basis of the severity of the hazard.

Unit members shall immediately report any health or safety problems at the worksite to the immediate supervisor. The unit member will be notified of action planned to correct the problem. Unit members who fail to comply with safe and healthy work practices shall be subject to disciplinary action according to the provisions of this CBA.

The Agency will appoint an occupational safety and health committee including managers and unit members. The employee organization will be invited to appoint a representative to the committee. The committee shall review Agency workplace inspections, review causes of accidents, and investigate hazardous conditions.

ARTICLE XVIII YEAR ROUND EDUCATION

Unit members assigned to a newly designated year-round education site who request a transfer shall be given first consideration for other vacancies in the Agency within their classification upon request. A traditional year schedule employee whose position becomes designated as a year-round education position and who elects not to continue in the position will have bumping rights according to seniority. The vacant position will first be flown in-house for interested applicants.

Unit members not assigned to year-round education sites whose most recent evaluation contains an overall rating of satisfactory or better may request to be placed on the substitute list for their off-duty days. Unit members called to serve as substitutes will receive their regular rate of pay if they substitute in their own classification. If the employee substitutes in a classification in which he/she has previously served, he/she shall receive the regular rate of pay for that classification. If the employee substitutes in a classification in which he/she has not previously served, he/she shall receive the regular substitute rate.

ARTICLE XIX SAVINGS

If any provision of this CBA is held to be contrary to law by a final decision of a court of competent jurisdiction, such provision shall not be deemed valid except to the extent permitted by law. All other provisions will continue in full force and effect. In the event of invalidation of a provision of this CBA, the parties shall negotiate within thirty (30) days in an attempt to reach an agreement upon a lawful replacement provision.

ARTICLE XX <u>NEGOTIATIONS</u>

Section 20.1 Either party desiring to amend the CBA shall, not less than thirty (30) days prior to the termination date of the CBA; provide written notice and a written proposal.

Section 20.2 Release Time for Negotiations. In years when the entire CBA is open for negotiations, an employee organization shall have a total of ten (10) unit member days of release time (8 hrs. x 10 days) paid by the Agency. In years of re-opener negotiations, an employee organization shall have a total of five (5) unit member days of release time (8 hrs. x 5 days) paid by the Agency. Upon the exhaustion of this paid release time, negotiations shall be conducted outside of the regular working day of unit members, or the employee organization shall compensate the Agency for the actual cost of substitute workers replacing members of the negotiations team. Such session shall be scheduled according to mutual agreement of the parties. Release time for negotiations shall be for the sole purpose of participation in negotiations, and shall be limited to five (5) employees released at one time with no more than two (2) per site to be released at the same time. The

parties shall conduct their preparation for negotiations outside of this release time.

Re-opener Negotiations. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the parties, there shall be an annual re-opener negotiations discussion on Article VI, "Salary", and Article VII, "Employee Benefits". Prior to June 30th of the first and second years of this Agreement, each party may submit a re-opener proposal on one additional article for the subsequent school year.

ARTICLE XXI NO CONCERTED ACTIVITIES/LOCK-OUT

It is agreed and understood that the Agency shall not engage in a lock-out of unit members. It is further agreed and understood that there will be no strike, work stoppage, slowdown, sick-out, or any failure to fully or faithfully perform job functions and responsibilities, or other interference with operations at the Agency by any employee organization or by such organization's officers, agents, or members, including

compliance with the request of other labor organizations to engage in such activity.

The employee organizations recognize the duty and obligation of representatives to comply with the provisions of this CBA and to make every effort toward inducing all unit members to do so. In the event of a strike, work stoppage, slowdown, sick-out, or other interference with the operations of the Agency by unit members who are represented by the employee organization, the organization shall in good faith take all necessary steps to cause those unit members to cease such action.

Any unit member who violates this Article is subject to discipline up to and including docking of pay, and/or termination by the Agency.

ARTICLE XXII TERM

The term of this CBA shall be for three (3) years, from July 1, 2014 – June 30, 2017. All other provisions of the CBA shall remain status quo. COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT for school year 2014/2015 only, to expire June 30, 2015, and reconsidered in negotiations openers for 2015/2016.

ARTICLE XXIII <u>AGENCY PERSONNEL POLICIES</u>

Personnel policies and handbooks adopted by the Board of Directors are incorporated into this CBA, except to the extent that they may be in conflict with this CBA. In the event of such conflict, the terms of this CBA shall prevail. Personnel policies and employee handbooks shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this CBA to be TEMPORARY executed on the day indicated below.

Tentative agreement reached on <u>Se</u>	eptember 29, 2015
	SANTA CLARITA VALLEY SCHOOL FOOD SERVICES AGENCY
DATED:	By:Board Representative
DATED:	CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION BY: CSEA Representative
	CHAPTER #782
DATED:	BY: Chapter Representative

It is agreed and understood that the Agency shall not engage in a lock-out of unit members. It is further agreed and understood that there will be no strike, work stoppage, slowdown, sick-out, or any failure to fully or faithfully perform job functions and responsibilities, or other interference with operations at the Agency by any employee organization or by such organization's officers, agents, or members, including compliance with the request of other labor organizations to engage in such activity.

The employee organizations recognize the duty and obligation of representatives to comply with the provisions of this MOU CBA and to make every effort toward inducing all unit members to do so. In the event of a strike, work stoppage, slowdown, sick-out, or other interference with the operations of the Agency by unit members who are represented by the employee organization, the organization shall in good faith take all necessary steps to cause those unit members to cease such action.

Any unit member who violates this Article is subject to discipline up to and including docking of pay, and/or termination by the Agency.

ARTICLE XXII

TERM

The term of this MOU CBA shall be for three (3) years, from July 1, 2011-2014 – June 30, 2014-2017.

All other provisions of the MOU CBA shall remain status quo. MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT for school year 2013/2014-2014/2015 only, to expire June 30, 2014-2015, and reconsidered in negotiations openers for 2014/2015-2015/2016.

ARTICLE XXIII

AGENCY PERSONNEL POLICIES

Personnel policies and handbooks adopted by the Board of Directors are incorporated into this MOU CBA, except to the extent that they may be in conflict with this MOU CBA. In the event of such conflict, the terms of this MOU CBA shall prevail. Personnel policies and employee handbooks shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this MOU CBA to be TEMPORARY executed on the day indicated below.

Tentative agreement reached on February 3, 2014 September 29, 2015

DATED: 9/29/15

9/29/15

DATED: 9-29-15

SANTA CLARITA VALLEY

SCHOOL FOOD SERVICES AGENC

Board Representative

CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES

ASSOCIATION

CSEA Representative

CHAPTER #782

BY:

Chapter Representative

SALARY GRID 2014/15

		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
106	Nutrition Assistant I	10.14	10.54	10.96	11.40	11.86	12.33	12.58	12.83	13.09
	Office Assistant	1,757.00	1,827.27	1,900.37	1,976.38	2,055.44	2,137.65	2,180.41	2,224.02	2,268.50
		21,084.00	21,927.24	22,804.44	23,716.56	24,665.28	25,651.80	26,164.92	26,688.24	27,222.00
107	Receptionist	10.52	10.94	11.38	11.84	12.31	12.80	13.06	13.32	13.59
		1,823.91	1,896.86	1,972.74	2,051.65	2,133.72	2,219.06	2,263.45	2,308.72	2,354.89
		21,886.92	22,762.32	23,672.88	24,619.80	25,604.64	26,628.72	27,161.40	27,704.64	28,258.68
108		10.93	11.37	11.83	12.30	12.79	13.30	13.57	13.84	14.12
		1,895.09	1,970.89	2,049.73	2,131.73	2,216.99	2,305.67	2,351.79	2,398.82	2,446.80
		22,741.08	23,650.68	24,596.76	25,580.76	26,603.88	27,668.04	28,221.48	28,785.84	29,361.60
109	Custodian I	11.37	11.82	12.30	12.79	13.30	13.83	14.11	14.39	14.68
	Nutrition Assistant II	1,970.55	2,049.37	2,131.34	2,216.60	2,305.26	2,397.47	2,445.42	2,494.33	2,544.22
		23,646.60	24,592.44	25,576.08	26,599.20	27,663.12	28,769.64	29,345.04	29,931.96	30,530.64
110	Custodian II	11.83	12.30	12.79	13.31	13.84	14.39	14.68	14.97	15.27
	Nutrition Assistant III	2,050.27	2,132.28	2,217.58	2,306.27	2,398.53	2,494.47	2,544.36	2,595.25	2,647.15
	(NA III job description to be established)	24,603.24	25,587.36	26,610.96	27,675.24	28,782.36	29,933.64	30,532.32	31,143.00	31,765.80
111		12.31	12.81	13.32	13.85	14.40	14.98	15.28	15.59	15.90
		2,134.27	2,219.64	2,308.43	2,400.76	2,496.79	2,596.66	2,648.59	2,701.57	2,755.60
		25,611.24	26,635.68	27,701.16	28,809.12	29,961.48	31,159.92	31,783.08	32,418.84	33,067.20
112	Cash Control Clerk	12.82	13.34	13.87	14.42	15.00	15.60	15.91	16.23	16.56
	Delivery Driver	2,222.54	2,311.44	2,403.89	2,500.05	2,600.05	2,704.05	2,758.14	2,813.29	2,869.56
		26,670.48	27,737.28	28,846.68	30,000.60	31,200.60	32,448.60	33,097.68	33,759.48	34,434.72
113	Site Team Leader I	13.36	13.89	14.45	15.02	15.62	16.25	16.57	16.91	17.24
	Utility Worker	2,315.07	2,407.68	2,503.98	2,604.14	2,708.32	2,816.64	2,872.98	2,930.43	2,989.04
		27,780.84	28,892.16	30,047.76	31,249.68	32,499.84	33,799.68	34,475.76	35,165.16	35,868.48
114	Accounting Clerk	13.92	14.48	15.06	15.66	16.29	16.94	17.28	17.62	17.98
	Site Team Leader II	2,413.30	2,509.84	2,610.23	2,714.65	2,823.23	2,936.16	2,994.88	3,054.78	3,115.87
		28,959.60	30,118.08	31,322.76	32,575.80	33,878.76	35,233.92	35,938.56	36,657.36	37,390.44
115	Production Team Leader	14.52	15.10	15.71	16.34	16.99	17.67	18.02	18.38	18.75
		2,517.23	2,617.92	2,722.65	2,831.55	2,944.81	3,062.60	3,123.85	3,186.33	3,250.06
		30,206.76	31,415.04	32,671.80	33,978.60	35,337.72	36,751.20	37,486.20	38,235.96	39,000.72
116		15.15	15.76	16.39	17.05	17.73	18.44	18.81	19.18	19.57
		2,626.86	2,731.93	2,841.21	2,954.86	3,073.06	3,195.97	3,259.90	3,325.09	3,391.59
		31,522.32	32,783.16	34,094.52	35,458.32	36,876.72	38,351.64	39,118.80	39,901.08	40,699.08
117	Warehousing Specialist	15.82	16.45	17.11	17.80	18.51	19.25	19.63	20.03	20.43
]	2,742.17	2,851.87	2,965.94	3,084.57	3,207.96	3,336.27	3,403.00		3,540.48
		32,906.04	34,222.44	35,591.28	37,014.84	38,495.52	40,035.24	40,836.00	41,652.72	42,485.76
118	Maintenance Lead	16.53	17.19	17.88	18.59	19.33	20.11	20.51	20.92	21.34
		2,864.61	2,979.20	3,098.37	3,222.29	3,351.19	3,485.24	3,554.94	3,626.04	3,698.56
		34,375.32	35,750.40	37,180.44	38,667.48	40,214.28	41,822.88	42,659.28	43,512.48	44,382.72
						1				

Wages calculated as follows: Monthly base rate / 173.333 = new hourly rate. Rounding process may affect some step rates +/- by 1 cent.

Longevity

1 (after 13 years): 5% on the current Base Salary

2 (after 20 years): plus 5.5% (total 10.5% compounded) on the current Base Salary

3 (after 25 years): plus 6.5% (total 16.5% compounded) on the current Base Salary

Professional Growth

5.0% on the current Base Salary or the current Base Salary + Longevity

CBA: CSEA approved 11/06/15; Board adopted 11/17/15